
In-person participation by the public will be permitted.  
 
Submit a written public comment prior to the meeting: Public comments submitted to 
krashad@atwater.org by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be distributed to the 
Planning Commission and made part of the official minutes but will not be read out loud 
during the meeting. 
 
Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Persons requesting 
accommodation should contact the City in advance of the meeting, and as soon as 
possible, at (209) 357-6241. 

 

CITY OF ATWATER 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

AGENDA 
 

Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road  
Atwater, CA 95301 

 
 

March 20, 2024 
 
CALL TO ORDER:                                    6:00 PM 

 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplain McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG:  
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Borgwardt____, Kadach____, Sanchez-Garcia ____, Sanders____, Mokha____ 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS: (The Planning Secretary shall announce any requests for items 
requiring immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda. Subsequent need items require a two-
thirds vote of the members of the Commission present at the meeting.) 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: (This is the time for the 
Commission to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

 
Staff’s Recommendation: Motion to approve agenda as posted or as amended. 
 

mailto:krashad@atwater.org


Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of March  20, 2024             Page 2 

MINUTES:   
 

1. February 21, 2024 – Regular meeting  
 

Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed.  
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

2. Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Tentative Map 
No. 23-12-0100 located east of Heather Glen Lane and North of Fruitland Ave 
(APN: 150-150-025)  (Applicant: Francisco Marquez) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15315, Class 15 
“Minor Land Divisions;” and adopt Resolution No. 0231-23 Approving 
Tentative Map No. 23-12-0100 for a property located east of Heather Glen 
Lane and North of Fruitland Avenue, Atwater (APN: 150-150-025). 

 
3. Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional Use 

Permit No. 24-03-0100 located on the Northwest corner of Progress Avenue 
and Hazel Avenue in Atwater (APN: 003-160-026) (Applicant: Brad Kessler) 

 
Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures,” and; 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 0243-24 Approving Conditional Use Permit No. 24-
03-0100, located at the corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue in 
Atwater (APN: 003-160-026). 
 

4. Public hearing to make a finding that the proposed exterior paint scheme for 
Fire Station 41, located at 699 Broadway, Atwater, CA (APN: 003-075-001), 
conforms with the City’s policies, codes, and guidelines for government 
buildings pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code 17.12.060. 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of March  20, 2024             Page 3 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  

  
 Close the public hearing 
 

Make a finding that proposed exterior paint scheme is consistent with the 
City’s policies, codes, and guidelines for government buildings pursuant to 
the Atwater Municipal Code 17.12.060 

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF:  
 

5. Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Verbal Updates 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC:  

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I, Kayla Rashad, Planning Commission Recording Secretary, do hereby certify that a copy 
of the foregoing Agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 

Kayla Rashad 
__________________________________ 
Kayla Rashad,  
Planning Commission Recording Secretary  
 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the Community Development Department at City 
Hall during normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda. You may state your name and 
address for the record; however, it is not required. Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda. If 
it requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda. Please limit comments to a maximum 
of three (3) minutes. 
 

 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of March  20, 2024             Page 4 

In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a Planning Commission meeting due to 
a disability, please contact the Planning Commission Secretary a minimum of three (3) 
business days in advance of the meeting at planning@atwater.org or  (209) 812-1031. You 
may also send the request by email to  

mailto:planning@atwater.org


 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
ACTION MINUTES 

 
February 21, 2024 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION: (Council Chambers) 
 
The Planning Commission of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session 
this date at 6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater 
Civic Center, 750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California;  
 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplin McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Planning Commission Member Borgwardt 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Planning Commission Members Borgwardt, Kadach, Sanchez-

Garcia, Sanders, and Mokha 
Absent: None 
Staff Present: Chief Salvador, City Engineer Seymour, Interim City Manager / 

Community Development Director Thompson, City Council 
Member Cale, Recording Secretary Rashad . 

 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:   
 
None 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 



 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to approve the agenda. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Borgwardt, Kadach, 
Sanchez-Garcia, Mokha; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 
 
ORGANIZATION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION:  
 
Nomination of a Planning Commission Chair 
 
Recording Secretary Rashad opened the Nomination of a Chair. 
 
Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to nominate Planning Commission 
Member Borgwardt for Chair.  
 
Planning Commission Member Sanders seconded the motion to nominate Planning 
Commission Member Borgwardt for Chair.  
 
The Nomination period was closed. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach nominated Planning Commission 
Member Borgwardt as Chair. The motion was seconded by Planning Commission 
Member Sanders. The roll call vote was: Ayes: Mokha, Kadach, Sanchez-Garcia, 
Sanders, Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The nomination passed. 
 
Nomination of a Planning Commission Vice Chair 
 
Recording Secretary Rashad opened the Nomination of a Vice Chair. 
 
Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to nominate Planning Commission 
Member Sanchez-Garcia for Vice Chair.  
 
Chair Borgwardt seconded the motion to nominate Planning Commission Member 
Sanchez-Garcia for Vice Chair 
 
The Nomination period was closed. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach nominated Planning Commission 
Member Sanchez-Garcia as Vice Chair. The motion was seconded by Chair 
Borgwardt. The roll call vote was: Ayes: Mokha, Kadach, Sanchez-Garcia, Sanders, 
Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The nomination passed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
a) December 20, 2023   – Regular Meeting 
 



MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to approve the minutes. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia and 
the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Borgwardt, Kadach, 
Sanchez-Garcia, Mokha; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 
23-20-0100 for a cabinet shop located at 235 Business Parkway (APN: 056-330-036)   
 
(Applicant: Albert Cisneros) 
 
Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Thompson provided 
background on this project. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
Applicant Albert Cisneros spoke on the project. 
 
Planning Commission Member Kadach inquired on permit requirements for 
painting in this business. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to Make a finding that the 
project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guideline section 15301, Class 1 “Existing Facilities,” and Adopt Resolution No. 
0239-23 Approving Conditional Use Permit No. 23-20-0100. The motion was 
seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia and the vote was: 
Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, Kadach, Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, 
Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 

Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Tentative Map No. 23-22-0100 
and Site Plan No. 23-22-0200 and recommending the City Council approve Zone Change 
No. 23-22-0300 to construct a 949 square foot coffee restaurant with a drive thru located 
at 1085 Bellevue Road, Atwater (APN: 150-190-036) 

(Applicant: Mike Fillebrown) 

Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Thompson provided 
background on this project. 



Applicants Ken Vang and Mike Fillebrown spoke on this project. 
 
The applicants expressed concern with Condition No. 21. 
 
Chair Borgwardt inquired about the overflow and where it goes. 
 
Planning Commission Member Mokha asked if there would be issues with 
underground storage with storm events. 
 
Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia expressed concern with traffic 
flow. 
 
Planning Commission Member Kadach inquired about a left turn only sign at the 
exit of the drive thru. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to Make a finding that the 
project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guideline section 15332, Class 32 “Infill Development Projects,”. The motion was 
seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia and the vote was: 
Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, Kadach, Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, 
Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 

MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to Adopt Resolution No. 
0241-23 Approving Tentative Map No. 23-22-0100 and Site Plan No. 23-22-0200; and 
recommending the approval of Zone Change No. 23-22-0300 to the City Council for 
the construction of a 949 square foot coffee restaurant with a drive thru located at 
1085 Bellevue Road, Atwater (APN: 150-190-036). The motion was seconded by 
Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia and the vote was: Ayes: Planning 
Commission Members Mokha, Kadach, Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, Borgwardt; 
Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS FROM STAFF:  
 
Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Updates. 
 
Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Thompson welcomed new 
Planning Commission Member Mokha and provided insight on the next General 
Plan Update Workshop on February 28th. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the Public Comment. 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
No one came forward to speak. 



 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public comment. 

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 

Planning Commission Member Mokha expressed his excitement to be a Planning 
Commission Member. 

Planning Commission Member Sanders welcomed Planning Commission Member 
Mokha and expressed the importance of more outreach to the community as well 
as outreach in Spanish. 

Planning Commission Member Kadach welcomed Planning Commission Member 
Mokha. 

Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia welcomed Planning Commission 
Member Mokha and expressed her excitement to be Vice Chair. 

Chair Borgwardt inquired about an update on past projects. He also expressed 
concern with the “No Parking” signs past the canal on North Buhach Rd and them 
being illegible. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chair Borgwardt adjourned the meeting at 6:56 PM. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Don Borgwardt, Chair 
 
By: Kayla Rashad 
Recording Secretary 
 



 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
     

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 

Donald Borgwardt     Jagandeep Mokha 
Harold Kadach          Ileisha Sanders 

Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 

 

 
MEETING DATE: March 20, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:  Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager 
 
SUBJECT:  Consider adopting a Resolution approving a Tentative Parcel 

Map No. 23-12-0100, located East of Heather Glen Lane and 
North of Fruitland Avenue, Atwater (APN: 150-150-025) 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and take any testimony from the public; and, 

2. Close the public hearing; and,  
 

3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15315, Class 15, “Minor Land 
Divisions;” and, Adopt Resolution No. 231-23 approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 
23-12-0100 for a property located east of Heather Glen Lane and North of Fruitland 
Avenue, Atwater (APN: 150-150-025). 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located east of Heather Glen Lane and north of Fruitland Avenue 
Accessor (refer to Figure 1) and is approximately 2.77 acres in size. The property is 
currently vacant with a fence along Fruitland and Heather Glen. The property appears to 
be used as an access and drive aisle for the estate home to the north.   
 
The subject property has a land use designation of Very Low Density Residential and is 
zoned Residential Estate (R-E). The property located to the immediate north, east, south, 
west has the same land use designation and zone district as the subject property.  
 
 
 

Figure 1 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0231-23 Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 

 
 
II. ANALYSIS:  

 
The applicant, Francisco Marquez, is seeking approval to subdivide the subject property 
(+/- 2.77 acres) into three (3) equal size parcels. Each resulting parcel would be 
approximately 0.925 acres, or approximately 40,293 square feet. The subdivision is being 
proposed for residential purposes.  
 
The parcel map proposes access via a private access easement that runs in the 
north/south direction along the eastern property line. Pursuant to Chapter 16.12.140, 
private streets may be permitted with the recommendation of the Planning Commission 
and approval of the City Council where the City Council finds that:  
 

A. There is adequate provision for their constructions and continued maintenance; 
 
The proposed parcel map has been conditioned to enter into a maintenance 
agreement that will be recorded against the property stipulating that construction 
and continued maintenance is the responsibility of the property owner.  
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0231-23 Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

B. The welfare of the occupants of the development will be adequately served; and 
 
The private street is required to provide access not only to the Parcels A, B, C of 
the proposed parcel map, but also to give the property adjacent to the north 
property line (150-150-025) of the subject parcel pursuant to a previous parcel map 
filed as Parcel Map No. 05-4 file for record August 30, 2005 in Book 100of Parcel 
Maps , Pages 26 and 27, Merced County Records. Therefore, the private street 
will ensure the occupants of the development will be adequately served.  
 

C. The public welfare will not be impaired.  
The private street will be constructed completely on the owner’s property and will 
not require any public right-of-way but will be required to be privately maintained 
through an HOA Road Maintenance Agreement or other funding agreement 
between the three parcels being created and having access to the proposed 
private street. The private street will also be gated and not open to the public for 
use, therefore public welfare will not be impaired.  

 
Zoning Consistency: 
 
The project site is currently zoned as Residential Estate (R-E) and is consistent with the 
zoning ordinance. Pursuant to Chapter 17.16 of the AMC, the purpose of the Low Density 
Residential zones is to protect the value and charm of the existing residential areas, and 
to promote health, safety, comfort, convenience, and the general welfare for residential 
districts established by Chapter 17.16 of the AMC, which includes R-E zone districts.   
 
After a review of the tentative parcel map, the project is found to be consistent with the 
development requirements listed in Section 17.16 of the AMC, including minimum lot size 
and setbacks. Per 17.16.050 of the Atwater Municipal Code (AMC), the minimum lot size 
is 16,000 square feet. As proposed, the parcel map meets the minimum required lot 
configuration standards identified in the AMC for the R-E zone district. Setbacks and lot 
coverage will be reviewed for consistency at the time plans are submitted for building 
permits.  
 
General Plan Consistency: 
 
The project is determined to be consistent with the General Plan’s Land Use Designation, 
goals, and policies. The site currently has a land use designation of Very Low Density 
Residential (VLDR). This designation accommodates the needs of residents who desire 
large parcels and the feeling of open space integrated with a suburban lifestyle. 
 
Subdivision Map Act: 
 
Based upon the review of the project and the conditions set forth in the resolution, the 
project complies with all applicable provisions of the Subdivision Map Act (Section 66411 
of the California Government Code), in addition to the Title 16 of the Atwater Municipal 
Code pertaining to subdivisions.  



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0231-23 Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Conclusion: 
 
The requirements and intent of the Atwater Municipal Code, the Atwater General Plan, 
and other provisions, and the intended use and overall project will not, under any 
circumstances of the particular case in this particular location, constitute a nuisance or be 
detrimental to the public welfare of the community. Any additional conditions stipulated, 
set forth in the draft resolution, by City Staff are deemed necessary in the public interest. 
Staff recommends Planning Commission approve the tentative parcel map and site plan. 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item has 
been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
Goal LU-16: Ensure proper and efficient administration of the General Plan Land Use 
Diagram. 
 
V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
The project is categorically exempt under the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guideline section 15315: Class 15 “Minor Land Divisions” exemption which 
states, “Class 15 consists of the division of property in urbanized areas zoned for 
residential, commercial, or industrial use into four or fewer parcels when the division is in 
conformance with the General Plan and zoning, no variances or exceptions are required, 
all services and access to the proposed parcels to local standards are available, the 
parcel was not involved in a division of a larger parcel within the previous two years, and 
the parcel does not have an average slope greater than 20 percent.”  
 
The parcel is proposed to be divided into 3 parcels with no exceptions or variances to the 
General Plan and Zoning Ordinances. The proposed use would remain residential. No 
new use is proposed that would need any new findings of significance. No new change 
in the surrounding area has occurred that would contribute to findings that would be 
considered significant or represent a major change to the physical environment.  



Agenda Report – Resolution No. PC 0231-23 Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  
 
Following adoption of Resolution No. PC 231-23, the signed resolution will be forwarded 
to the applicant. 
 
Prepared by: Tom Navarro, Senior Planner 
 
Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager  
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No. PC 231-23 
2. Operational Statement  
3. Land Use Designation 
4. Zoning  
5. Tentative Parcel Map  

 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0231-23 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF 
THE CITY OF ATWATER APPROVING A TENTATIVE 
PARCEL MAP LOCATED EAST OF HEATHER GLEN 
LANE AT ITS INTERSECTION WITH FRUITLAND 
AVENUE, ATWATER (APN: 150-150-025) 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Tentative Parcel 
Map N0. 23-12-0100, as submitted by Francisco Marquez, requesting to subdivide 
approximately a 2.77-acre parcel into three (3) parcels; and,  

WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater March 20, 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, this project is categorically exempt under California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15315, Class 15, “Minor Land Divisions;” and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, __ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project, and __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in  
opposition or in favor of the project; and, 

WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the proposed use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Tentative Parcel Map No. 23-12-0100: 

1. That this application proposes to subdivide approximately 2.77 acres into 3 parcels. 
2. That the site is located in a Residential Estate (R-E) Zone District and is consistent 

with the purpose and intent of said district.  
3. That this site is designated by the Atwater General Plan as Very Low Density 

Residential (VLDR). 
4. That the project is categorically exempt under CEQA guideline section 15315, 

Class 15, “Minor Land Divisions.” 
5. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 

advertised. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 2 
 

6. That the project would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and 
welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Tentative Parcel Map No. 23-12-0100 subject to the 
following conditions:  

 
ENGINEERING: 

1. Right of way or easement acquisitions necessary to implement any portion of this 
map, and/or site development plan, including public improvements, shall be 
obtained by the developer at its sole expense prior to the City's consideration of 
the final map which encompasses the particular improvement. The developer 
shall notify the City in writing no more than 120 days and no less than 60 days in 
advance of filing the final map related to the acquisition if City assistance is 
needed to complete the acquisition pursuant to Government Code Section 
66462.5. Funds in an amount of 100% of the estimated acquisition costs shall be 
deposited with the City to cover appraisal, right of way agent, and legal fees and 
costs incurred to secure the necessary property. 

2. Notwithstanding any grading/elevations that are shown on the tentative map, or 
the provisions of the City of Atwater Municipal Code, approval of this tentative 
map does not authorize the issuance of any grading permits. 
 

3. The developer shall provide and show on the final map all necessary 
easements for access, streets, alleys, sewer and water facilities, utilities and 
drainage facilities, irrigation facilities and other facilities as requested by the 
City. Utility easements shall be a minimum of a clear fifteen feet (15') for one 
utility and a clear twenty feet (20') for two or more utilities or as specified by 
basic engineering design guidelines. Easements shall not be split between 
property lines unless determined otherwise by the City Engineer. The easement 
widths identified are minimums and in certain circumstances, additional 
easement widths may be required as determined by the City Engineer. 
 

4. The subdivider shall submit plans and specifications for improvements of all 
public and private street rights-of-way, drainage easements, culverts, drainage 
structures and drainage facilities to the Community Development Department 
for approval by the City Engineer. 

 
5. The final map and all related documents shall comply with all regulations and 

requirements of the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 

6. Each parcel shall be served by an individual sanitary sewer lateral. Connection 
shall be made to the existing 6” Sanitary Sewer Main on Heather Glen Lane. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 3 
 

7. Each parcel shall be served by an individual water service. Connection shall be 
made to the existing 8” water main on Heather Glen Lane. Individual water 
services shall be provided for potable and landscape purposes, of adequate 
size for the proposed development. All services shall be metered. 
 

8. The developer shall install a reduced pressure principle backflow device for 
potable water and an approved backflow device for irrigation water. Individual 
services are to be provided for potable water and landscaping purposes. The 
services shall be metered; a Sensus “Flex-Net” radio read meter shall be used. 
Service shall include a backflow prevention device enclosure, mounted on a 
concrete pad. The RPP device shall include unions on both riser pipes for 
easier maintenance. RPP devices shall be shown on the Site Improvement Plan 
including, brand names and types. 

 
9. The subdivider shall submit a building permit which shall include grading plans, 

a permit application, and plan check and inspection fees and deposits to the 
Community Development Department. Grading plans shall be approved prior to 
or concurrently with the approval of the Improvement Plans. 

 
10. Any portion of the drainage system that conveys runoff from public streets shall 

be installed within a dedicated drainage easement or public street. 
 

11. Site must have onsite detention of storm water. When developed, storm water 
from this project will discharge to the Livingston Canal, a facility identified within 
the Merced Irrigation District Improvement District No. 1 (MIDDID No. 1). The 
property owner will be required to enter into a “Storm Drainage Agreement with 
the MIDDID No. 1, paying an annual maintenance fee and any connection fees 
as established by the MIDDID No. 1 Board of Directors and as collected by 
MIDDID No. 1 and on the Merced County Tax Rolls.  Existing flows and flows 
from proposed development are to be part of the storm drainage calculations for 
the development to be submitted to the City Engineer. 

 
12. Final parcel maps shall be in substantial conformance to the approved tentative 

parcel map and must be submitted, in English units, to the City Engineering 
Division for review and approval. Maps shall be prepared, wet signed and sealed 
by a civil engineer or land surveyor registered in the State of California and 
licensed to prepare final maps. 

 
13. All subsequent maps shall plot dedication and/or the relinquishment of all 

affected utility easements. 
 

14. If applicable, all beneficiaries of record are to sign a consent statement to record 
with the Final Map. 

 
15. The CC&R’s (Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions) for the project shall 

contain appropriate provisions for joint maintenance of any infrastructure, 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 4 
 

roadways, utilities, landscaping and irrigation as determined necessary by the 
City Engineer 

 
16. All city streets that are being improved shall have 60’ right-of-way, as stated in 

the City of Atwater Municipal Code, Title 16.12.030-050. 
 

17. CC&Rs for the project shall contain appropriate provisions for joint maintenance 
of any infrastructure, roadways, parking facilities, utilities, landscaping, and 
irrigation as determined necessary by the City Engineer. 

 
18. Ensure that the site allows for the maneuverability of fire trucks (see appendix D 

of 2022 California Fire Code, Title 24, Part 9), refuse vehicles, and any 
emergency service vehicles around the entirety of the site. Proper site 
furnishings shall be installed to maintain proper clearance for emergency 
vehicular turnaround where designated on plan. 

 
19. All travel lanes on the site plan shall be dimensioned to ensure proper clearance 

width is met (see appendix D of 2022 California Fire Code). 
 

20. The developer shall comply with Government Code Section 66436(a)(3) before 
approval of each final map and shall provide "no objection" letters from the public 
entity or utility to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 
21. The Final Map shall include the entire area shown on the Tentative Map and shall 

not be filed as units or groups of units. 
 

22. The Developer shall provide joint trenching for telephone, gas, electric, and cable 
TV service for every parcel in a combined utility plan submitted with the Building 
Permit. 

 
23. Meters, hydrants, poles, etc. shall be located clear of the sidewalk and driveways 

or as determined by the City Engineer. Final locations and the number of such 
facilities shall be determined at the time the improvement plans are reviewed. 

 
24. All improvements, public and private, shall be designed and constructed in 

accordance with the most recent edition of the City of Atwater Improvement 
Plans and Specifications (to be supplemented by the Current Caltrans Standard 
Plans and Specifications when necessary), all applicable federal, state, and local 
ordinances, standards, and requirements. Should a conflict arise, the governing 
specification shall be determined by the City Engineer. 
 

25. All public improvements proposed by the developer or required through these 
conditions of approval shall be completed and accepted by the City in 
compliance with the time schedule set forth in the conditions of approval; if no 
time schedule is provided, then no later than recordation of the parcel map. The 
developer may apply to the City for a Subdivision Improvement Agreement or 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 5 
 

Deferred Improvement Agreement in order to postpone completion of the public 
improvements. In any event, the City shall require the developer to guarantee the 
performance of the improvements and payment of labor and materials by 
furnishing security in a form acceptable to the City. Any such agreement shall 
include the required improvements to be constructed along the project 
boundaries, including, but not limited to, curb, gutter, sidewalk, street paving, 
street lighting, storm drain, water, sewer, and landscaping. These improvements 
shall be at the developer's expense and constructed when deemed necessary by 
the City. 

 
26. An encroachment permit shall be required for any construction to be done in the 

public right of way, in easements, or on lands to be dedicated to the City of 
Atwater upon completion of the improvements. The encroachment permit shall be 
obtained prior to the start of said work. The permit fees shall be determined per 
the current adopted Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 

 
27. Where the finished grade of the property is in excess of twelve inches (12") 

higher or lower than the abutting property or adjacent lots, a retaining wall or 
other suitable solution acceptable to the City Engineer shall be required, and any 
fence or wall shall be measured from the top of grade on the higher side of the 
retaining wall or slope. Retaining walls shall be shown on grading plans, shall be 
structurally engineered if over four (4) feet in height (from base of foundation to 
top of wall), including surcharge, and will require a separate building permit. 

 
28. The developer shall coordinate all grading and improvements with adjacent 

property owners to the satisfaction of the City if required due to an 
encroachment. Any grading or drainage onto adjacent properties shall require 
written approval of those property owners affected, with said approval provided to 
the City Engineer. 
 

29. Hydrology and hydraulic calculations for determining the storm system design, 
with water surface profile and adequate field survey cross section data, shall be 
provided satisfactory to the City Engineer, or verification shall be provided that 
such calculations are not needed. Applicant shall be required to detain the 100 
year 24 hr storm event. 

30. The subdivider shall provide for a drainage system capable of handling and 
disposing of all surface water originating within the subdivision and all surface 
water that may flow onto the subdivision from adjacent lands. Said drainage 
system shall include any easements and structures required by the City 
Engineer to properly handle the drainage and shall be designed so as to prevent 
ponding of surface water that would create a public health hazard or nuisance. 

 
31. Developer shall comply with Chapter 13.22 of the Atwater Municipal Code "Storm 

Water Management and Discharge Control" and with the City of Atwater Post 
Construction Standards Plan. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 6 
 

32. The developer shall process a Post-Construction Stormwater BMP Operation and 
Maintenance Plan for review and approval to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer. Applicant shall comply with the provisions of the City of Atwater Post-
Construction Standards Plan. 

 
33. The Owner shall execute any agreements identified in the Post-Construction 

Standards Plan that pertain to the transfer of ownership and/or long-term 
maintenance of stormwater treatment or hydrograph modification BMPs to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of the Community Development 
Department. 

 
34. Any existing damage or damage incurred during construction to the roadway, 

curb, gutter and/or sidewalk shall be repaired and/or replaced to the approval of 
the City Engineer. 

 
35. For the proposed on-site improvements and off-site improvements, the developer 

shall cause Improvement Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be prepared by a 
Licensed Civil Engineer or under his/her direction. The plans shall be prepared 
on 24" X 36" plan sheets and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall be in a 
format to be approved by the City Engineer and shall show all of the proposed 
grading and on-site and off-site improvements for the proposed development. 
The title of the plan shall be shown at the top of Sheet No. 1. Sheets shall be 
numbered in consecutive order. An index showing the sheets contained within 
and as a part of the Site Improvement Plan shall be shown on Sheet 1. 

 
36. Prior to final acceptance, the developer shall provide the City with copies of the 

"as-built" site and off-site improvements on 4 mil minimum translucent mylar and 
provide the construction and infrastructure drawings in an AutoCAD compatible 
format. The mylar set shall include all construction changes. 

 
37. Developer to provide water demand analysis report and calculations for the 

proposed development and defined on a per lot basis; shall include potable, 
irrigation and fire demand flows. 

38. All water trenches or excavations shall be excavated, backfilled, and compacted 
in accordance with applicable City Standards and conditions for paving included 
within this resolution. 
 

39. Any water wells found during construction shall be destroyed and/or demolished 
in accordance with approved City Standards, requirements, and/or permits. 

 
40. Any septic systems found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance 

with approved Merced County Environmental Health requirements.  
 

41. Applicant shall abandon and remove from the site any existing irrigation lines and 
other structures found. Lines shall be plugged at the property line with concrete. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 7 
 

42. Developer shall properly abandon or relocate all utilities as necessary or 
required. 

 
43. Applicant shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air 

Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD). 
 

44. Developer shall comply with the requirements of all public utility companies. 
 

45. Developer to provide sewer loading calculations and report for the development. 
 

46. Fire hydrants must be provided in compliance with Fire Department 
specifications. A 10-foot PUE is typically required, and the fire hydrant may be 
located in that easement if it cannot be located within the right of way. Waivers 
of street improvements do not waive fire hydrant requirements. 

47. The developer shall pay all applicable processing fees, permit fees, City 
development fees, fire fees, school fees, drainage fees and other public entity 
fees in effect at the time of the issuance of the applicable permit. 
 

48. In addition to otherwise applicable development fees, if the subject property is 
located within an existing or a proposed Benefit District, the developer shall pay 
the Benefit District fee as set forth in the Engineer’s Report for the applicable 
Benefit District. Fees shall be charged and paid at the time of building permit 
issuance. The fee may be adjusted over time by an amount equal to the annual 
rate of inflation set forth in the Engineering News Record Construction Cost 
Index. 

49. It is the responsibility of the applicant or developer to check with each agency 
for requirements that may pertain to their project. 

50. The applicant shall negotiate school mitigation with the appropriate School 
District before issuance of building permit. Applicant shall present evidence of 
School District compliance to the City of Atwater. 

51. The project shall annex into a Community Facilities District for the on-going 
Public Services operations including Fire and Police services. 
 

52. The project shall annex into a Lighting and Landscaping District for the on-going 
maintenance of project lighting, open space areas and any proposed common 
landscape areas such as parks, landscape medians and parkway strips. 

 
53. Where required, automatic fire sprinkler systems shall be designated and 

installed in compliance with NFPA (National Fire Protection Association) 
standards. Fire Department Connections (FDC’s) shall be located within 50 feet 
of a fire hydrant. 

54. If required, fire hydrants shall be installed along property frontages and on-site in 
accordance with City of Atwater specifications. Fire hydrants shall be placed on-



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 8 
 

site in accordance with the City of Atwater Fire Department requirements; on-site 
placement of fire hydrants shall be reviewed and approved by the Fire Chief. All 
fire hydrants shall have a minimum flow of 1,500 gallons per minute. Water lines 
and services shall be installed in accordance with City of Atwater City Standards 
and specifications. Fire protection lines shall be separate from domestic service 
lines and shall utilize detector check meter installations. 

 
55. The grade of the fire apparatus access road shall be within the limits 

established by the code official based on fire apparatus. (Shall not exceed 10 
percent.) 

 
56. Fire apparatus access roads shall be designed and maintained to support the 

imposed loads of fire apparatus (75,000 pounds) and shall be surfaced so as to 
provide all-weather driving capabilities. 

 
57. Where applicable, NO PARKING – FIRE LANE signage and/or marking(s) shall 

be provided for fire apparatus access roads to identify such roads or prohibit the 
obstruction thereof. 

 
58. All underground utilities shall be installed in conformance with existing City 

policy including without limitation the City of Atwater Subdivision and Zoning 
Ordinances. 

59. The installation (if required) of all gas, electric, sewer, and water lines and any 
other below-surface utilities is to take place before the installation of any 
concrete curbs, gutter, sidewalks, and the surfacing of streets. 

60. Developer shall install off-street improvements determined necessary by the 
City Engineer to provide safe traffic conditions. 
 

61. Developer shall ensure finished pad elevations are at a minimum one foot above 
the 100-year (1% chance) base flood elevation as shown on the latest Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) floodplain maps for Merced County, 
California. The developer shall be responsible for all necessary activities, 
applications, documentation and costs to amend floodplain maps for their 
development [Letter of Map Amendment Revision (LOMAR)], and for obtaining a 
Floodplain Permit from the Community Development Director for all projects on 
parcels identified in a Zone “A” on the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the 
City of Atwater. Application for LOMAR shall be prepared and submitted by the 
developer prior to grading permit issuance or final map approval, whichever 
occurs first. 

 
62. Detailed plans reflecting the design and construction of all public infrastructure 

improvements for street, sewer, water, and storm drain, both on- and off-site, 
shall be in conformance with the adopted Infrastructure Master Plans and as 
directed by the City Engineer. Developer shall have written approval from the 
City Engineer for any variations from the City’s Master Plans prior to any final 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 9 
 

map or plan  approval. 
 

63. Sight distance requirements at all street intersections shall conform to City 
Standards. 

64. The applicant shall submit a geotechnical report together with improvement 
plans to the City Engineer for review and approval. The report shall include the 
information and be in the form as required by the City Engineer and all 
applicable codes. 

65. Developer shall construct curb, gutter, and sidewalks along all street frontages 
or Developer shall pay proportional share of street frontage improvements, if 
street improvements are completed by the city prior to recordation of the final 
map. 

66. The project shall be in compliance with the most recent Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) regulations. 
 

67. Developer shall submit three (s) sets of landscaping and irrigation plans to be 
reviewed and approved by the City of Atwater Public Works Division. Said plans 
shall be prepared by a landscape architect licensed in the State of California. All 
landscaped areas shall be equipped with seven-day automatic irrigation systems 
with battery back-up. All landscaping shall always be maintained and said 
maintenance shall be the responsibility of the developer. Specific landscaping for 
screening shall have an appearance of mature growth subject to a field check 
and approval by the Community Development Director prior to Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

68. The developer shall plant shade trees along street frontage in accordance with 
the 2017 urban forest tree master plan. All landscaping areas shall be equipped 
with seven-day automatic irrigation systems with battery back-up. 
 

69. All slope banks in excess of two (2) feet in vertical height shall be landscaped 
and irrigated for erosion control and to soften their appearance as follows: 
one 15-gallon or larger size tree per each 150 sq. ft. of slope area, one 1- gallon 
or larger size shrub per each 100 sq. ft. of slope area, and appropriate ground 
cover 12-24 inches on-center. In addition, slope banks in excess of five (5) feet 
in vertical height also include one 5-gallon or larger size tree per each 250 sq. ft. 
of slope area. Trees and shrubs shall be planted in staggered clusters to soften 
and vary slope plane. Slope planting required by this condition shall include a 
permanent irrigation system to be installed by the developer prior to occupancy. 

70. All planting shall be maintained in good growing condition. Such maintenance 
shall include, where appropriate, pruning, mowing, weeding, cleaning of debris 
and trash, fertilizing and regular watering. Whenever necessary, planting shall be 
replaced with other plant materials to ensure continued compliance with 
applicable landscaping requirements. Required irrigation systems shall be fully 
maintained in sound operating condition with heads periodically cleaned and 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 10 
 

replaced when missing to ensure continued regular watering of landscape areas, 
and health and vitality of landscape materials. 

 
71. Final inspection for occupancy permits will not be granted until all construction 

and landscaping is complete in accordance with approved plans. 
 

72. Applicant is responsible for street name signs in accordance with City of Atwater 
Standards. The City of Atwater Police Department shall have the authority to 
enforce the State Vehicle Code on private streets within this subdivision. This 
enforcement shall commence only upon receipt of a written request from the 
developer or individual homeowners in the subdivision. The requesting party 
shall pay all costs associated with posting the private streets as required by the 
State Vehicle Code. The Police Department shall have the authority to enforce 
the State Vehicle Code and all Atwater laws on future public roads offered for 
dedication, but not yet accepted by the City. 

73. Prior to approval of the final map the developer shall form or annex into a street 
lighting and landscape maintenance district, or some alternative financing 
mechanism acceptable to the City, for maintenance of all streetlights and 
landscaping within or adjacent to the site. 

74. The subdivider shall construct, or agree to construct, the public improvements 
and private road improvements shown on the improvement plans as approved 
by the City Engineer. 

75. The subdivider shall construct, to the satisfaction of the Director of the 
Department of Public Works, a public street lighting system that complies with 
the following conditions: 

a. All fixtures shall use an LED light source. 
b. All light standards, heads, and spacing shall be per City Standards. 

Proposed lights of an ornamental nature shall not to exceed 16 feet in height 
designed to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director and 
shall be spaced and located to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

c. Deposit with the City of Atwater, through the Department of Public Works, a 
cash deposit sufficient to: 

i. Energize, maintain, and operate the street lighting system until tax 
revenues begin accruing from the subdivision for those purposes. 

ii. Pay the cost to process lighting district administration of this project. 
After recording of the Final Map, the subdivision shall be transferred 
without notice or hearing, to a City designated lighting district to 
operate and maintain the system. 

 

76. Prior to the recordation of a subdivision map or prior to the issuance of any 
grading permit, whichever comes first, and if determined necessary by the City 
Engineer, the applicant shall record a letter of consent from the affected 
property owners permitting off-site grading, cross lot drainage, drainage 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 11 
 

diversions and/or unnatural concentrations. The applicant shall obtain approval 
of the form of the letter of consent from the City of Atwater before recordation of 
the letter. 

77. The Final Map shall show the dedication of all on-site drainage easements, 
including easements for access thereto, and show monumentation for such 
easements, as required by the City Engineer and/or Public Works Director, or 
verify that no easements are required. The Final Map shall include the entire 
area shown on the Tentative Map and shall not be filed as units or groups of 
units. 

78. Upon notification by the City of Atwater that a final map is approved for 
recordation, the applicant shall pay all costs associated with the transport of the 
map by city personnel to the Merced County Recorder’s Office. 

 
79. The subdivider shall accomplish the following prior to approval of the Final Map 

by the City Council: 
 

a. Provide the Department of Public Works with letters or forms 
approved by the Community Development Director stating that the 
applicable agency or agencies have provided commitment to the 
site for such public facilities that are required for the subdivision 
(including, but not necessarily limited to, water and sewer 
services). 

b. Provide the City with a certification from each public utility and 
each public entity owning easements within the proposed 
subdivision stating that: (a) they have received from the developer 
a copy of the proposed map; (b) they object or do not object to the 
filing of the map without their signature; (c) in case of a street 
dedication affected by their existing easement, they will sign a 
‘subordination certificate" or "joint- use certificate" on the map 
when required by the governing body. In addition, the subdivider 
shall furnish proof to the satisfaction of the City Engineer that no 
new encumbrances have been created that would subordinate the 
City's interest over areas to be dedicated for public road purposes 
since submittal of the Tentative Map. 

c. Grant to the appropriate agency, by recorded document, all 
required off-site easements and all on-site water main easements 
that serve fire hydrants, or furnish a letter from said agency that 
none are required. 

d. Provide the Department of Public Works with evidence that any 
offer of dedication or grant of right-of-way shall be free of all 
encumbrances or subordinated at the time of recordation of the 
Final Map. 

e. If the subdivider does not have the real property rights necessary 
for public access or the construction of required improvements, 
he/she shall request the Planning Commission to direct City staff 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 12 
 

to begin eminent domain proceedings for acquisition of said 
property rights in accordance with all applicable City policies. The 
developer shall agree to pay City the full costs of eminent domain 
proceedings, including all easement costs. The developer shall 
also agree to construct required improvements within said 
easement. 

f. Pay off all existing deficit accounts associated with processing this 
application to the satisfaction of the City. 
 

80. Developer shall coordinate with the postmaster regarding installation of 
collective box units for the subdivision. 
 

81. Developer shall comply with section 503.6 of the California Fire Code regarding 
security gates. 

 
FIRE:  

82. The owner will abide by Chapter 8.28 of the Atwater Municipal code for weed 
control on any open lot. 
 

83. If the property is fenced or gated a approved Knox Box will be required.   
 
PLANNING: 
 

84. The parcel map shall not be recorded until authorization is given by the City 
Council for the City Clerk to sign the parcel map. 
 

85. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Tentative Parcel 
Map No. 23-12-0100 at any time. 

 
86. Tentative Parcel Map No. 23-12-0100 shall expire two years from the day of 

approval if the final map has not been recorded. 
 

87. A minimum twenty-foot setback from the 30’ wide public utility and access 
easement (per 100 PM 26-27) will be required to construct any primary or 
accessory structure. 

 
88. Construction of any single-family dwelling unit will be subject to the Residential 

Design Guidelines and require a building permit.  

89. The development of the parcel is subject to the requirements in Chapter 17.16M-
1, Low Density Residential Zone for R-E Residential Estate of the City Municipal 
Code. 
 

90. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 13 
 

plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

 
91. All properties must be served by public sewer and water. 

 
92. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 

hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any 
and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, 
officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the 
City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 
harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application. 
 

MERCED IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
 

93. Ensure adequate fencing along the portion adjacent to the Livingston Canal. 
Access gates that could allow pedestrian, vehicular or animal traffic onto MID 
property are prohibited. Provisions to accommodate storm water runoff 
generated between the inside crown of the canal and the existing fences should 
be addressed. 
 

94. If storm water runoff is to be discharged from the site into any MID facility, the 
property owner would be required to enter into a “Subdivision Drainage 
Agreement” with Merced Irrigation District Drainage Improvement District No. 1 
(MIDDID No. 1), paying all applicable fees. 

 
95. The property owner must obtain an “Encroachment Agreement” for all crossings 

over or under any MID facilities, including bridges, utilities and pipelines. 
 

96. That septic system leach fields be a minimum of 50 feet from the MID’s 
Livingston Canal to protect the facility from contamination and to protect the 
septic system from leakage from MID facilities. 

 
97. MID’s fee strip roadway embankments are not to be used for ingress or egress 

purposes. 
 
 
 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0231-23 Page 14 
 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 20th day of March, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:     
        
 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
       _____________________________                                                               
       DONALD BORGWARDT, 
       CHAIRPERSON  
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
INTERIM CITY MANAGER  



   Marquez 3 parcel subdivision—Fruitland Ave.
APN 150-150-25

This project proposes a minor subdivision of 3 lots of equal size intended to be used for residential 
purposes.









 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  

 
MEETING DATE: March 20, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Tom Navarro, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-03-0100 located on the northwest 
corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue in Atwater (APN: 
003-160-026). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; and, 

 
2. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures;” and, 

 
3. Adopt Resolution No. 243-24 and Conditional Use Permit No. 24-03-0100, located 

at the corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue, Atwater (APN: 003-160-026) 
 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at the corner of Progress Avenue Street and Hazel 
Avenue, Atwater APN 003-160-026. The proposed request for a freestanding digital sign 
is part of a light industrial development reviewed and approved by city staff as a site plan 
review (PN 23-24-0100). The overall development includes seven (7) shell buildings 
totaling approximately 240,000 square feet proposed to support a mixture of light 
industrial uses.  Part of the project includes the development of Progress Avenue and 
Hazel Avenue as well as the establishment of water, sewer and storm drainage utilities 
necessary to serve the development. The proposed request for the freestanding digital 
sign is intended to help support the newly established development and potentially 
provide other advertising opportunities for businesses within the Atwater community. 
 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Jagandeep Mokha 
 

Donald Borgwardt  Ileisha Sanders 
 
Harold Kadach   Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

II. ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant, BK Industries, Inc is requesting to construct a freestanding digital message 
board located at the corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue. The electronic 
message board, including supporting structure, will be approximately forty-nine feet and 
in height have an envelope of 1,000 square feet and consist of one pillar. The electronic 
message board will be constructed of metal and have two sides with each side containing 
an electronic message board 34-feet and 6-inches from the finished ground surface and 
no higher than 49-feet. The two electronic message boards will each contain a display of 
approximately 480 square feet per side (960 square feet total). The sign structure will sit 
one pillar located approximately 55-feet from the curb on Progress Avenue and 30-feet 
from curb on Hazel Avenue. The general character and aesthetic of the structure will 
metal construction with a natural quartzite wall tile at the base of the structure. The 
electronic message boards will be used to provide advertising opportunities to the local 
business market as well as provide a place for creating awareness for community events. 
 
The project is located at the intersection of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue, APN 
003-160-026 (see Figure 1). The subject property is zoned B-P (Business Park) has a 
Land Use Designation of Business Park per the Atwater General Plan. Per the Atwater 
Municipal Code (AMC) 17.69.240, businesses located within 300 feet of the Freeway 99 
right-of-way may have one freestanding sign up to 50 feet in height measured from the 
finished grade to the top of the sign and may exceed 250 square feet in area subject to 
the approval of a conditional use permit. 
 

1. The Electronic Message Board is consistent with Sections 17.69.500(A), 
17.69.240, 17.69.050(Q) and 17.69.120(H) of this Code. 

2. The orientation of the face of the Electronic Message Board is not detrimental to 
the character of development in the immediate neighborhood and does not pose 
a safety risk to motorists or pedestrians. 

3. The Electronic Message Board is consistent with the City's General Plan, the City's 
Zoning Code, City Municipal Code and all other applicable codes and regulations. 

 
AMC 17.69.500(A) provides guidelines for several different types of signage such as 
monument signs, Freestanding Reader Board, Electronic Message Boards, and 
freestanding signs to name a few for example. The majority of the municipal code that 
provides guidance regarding the Freestanding Electric Message board will be located in 
17.69.500 (A)(2) which is identified above and AMC 17.69.500(A)(5). AMC 
17.69.500(A)(5) states all monument signs, freestanding signs, and directional signs shall 
be placed within the landscaped area to be equipped with a seven-day automatic 
irrigation system which is one of the conditions required by the applicant.  
 
AMC 17.69.240 provides guidelines to freestanding signs within freeway corridors.  For 
purposes of this specific request, AMC 17.69.240 provides the provision for free standing 
signs to exceed 250 square feet in advertising space with the approval of a conditional 
use permit if within 300 feet of the State Route 99 right-of-way.  The proposed sign is 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

confirmed to meet that requirement and as designed is subject to approval by the 
Planning Commission. 
 
17.69.050 defines Electronic Message an Board, which states “A sign capable of 
displaying words, symbols, figures, or images that can be electronically or mechanically 
changed by remote or automatic means. The duration of a message shall be displayed 
for a period no less than 20 of seconds. The transition from one message to another shall 
be instantaneous as perceived from the human eye and each electronic message board 
message shall be complete in itself and shall not continue by fading, scrolling, or other 
manner to a subsequent message. No electronic message board shall display animated 
messages, including flashing, blinking, fading, rolling, dissolving, or any other effect that 
gives the appearance of movement. No electronic message board shall include or emit 
an audio message, which is also included as part of the conditions of approval and as a 
result the project meets the requirements outlined in item number one of section. 
 
With the approval of the Conditional Use Permit the project will be consistent with the 
zoning ordinance and general plan with the adoption of Resolution No. 243-24.  
 
Figure 1 

 
 
Description of Surrounding Uses: The parcels immediately to the north of the subject 
property include the Southern Pacific Rail line followed by light industrial facilities along 
Atwater Boulevard. The parcels to the east include established light industrial facilities. 
West of the subject property is currently undeveloped and the parcels to the south of the 
subject property is CALTRANS right-of-way (See Figure 1). 
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has a land use designation of B-P, Business 
Park District Overlay (Mixed Use District) this designation is intended to accommodate a 
wide range of business uses and may include manufacturing operations within completely 
enclosed buildings, associated offices, trade schools, and supporting childcare and retail 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

activities. The applicant is requesting a conditional use permit to allow a freestanding 
digital sign board to support an approved light industrial development located at the 
northwest corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue. The Project is proposed to 
facilitate the development of a seven (7) light industrial buildings would be consistent with 
the land use designation.  
 
Figure 2 

 
 
 
Zoning: The subject property is zoned Business Park (B-P) (See Figure 3).  The purpose 
of the B-P zone is to provide a location for Mixed Uses necessary within the City, but not 
suited to other commercial districts.  Development of a light industrial facility is allowed 
through approval of a site plan review but associated signage under this zoning 
designation must be approved by the Planning Commission under a Conditional Use 
Permit Application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 3 

 
 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
IV. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
V. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
None  
 
VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
The Planning Commission could affirm the staff’s recommendation or make another 
recommendation consistent with the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 
VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
The public will have an opportunity to provide comments on this item prior to Planning 
Commission action. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments on this item 
prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New Construction or Conversion of Small 
Structures. 
 
Class 3 consists of construction and location of limited numbers of new, small facilities or 
structures.  
 
IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  
Following adoption of Resolution No. PC 0243-24, Conditional Use Permit No.  24-03-
0100 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolutions will be given to the applicant.  
 
Prepared by: Tom Navarro, Senior Planner 
 
Submitted by: _______________________________________________ 
  Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager  
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No PC 0243-24 
2. City of Atwater Uniform Development Application  
3. Operational Statement  
4. Site Plan  
5. Elevation  

 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0243-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER TO 
CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
24-03-0100 LOCATED ON THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF PROGRESS AVENUE AND HAZEL 
AVENUE IN ATWATER (APN: 003-160-026). 

 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater on March 20, 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, this project is statutorily exempt under California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) guideline 15303, Class 3 “New construction of Conversion of Small Structures;” 
and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the ordinance, __ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the ordinance, and __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in  
opposition or in favor of the ordinance; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-03-0100 would not have a 
detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any 
adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-03-0100 

1. That this application proposes to operate an electronic message board.  
2. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 
3. That the project is exempt under CEQA guideline 15303, Class “3 “New Construction 

or Conversion of Small Structures. 
4. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and advertised. 
5. That the resolution would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and 

welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 2 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-03-0100 subject to the 
following conditions:  

 
BUILDING 
 

1. All off-site improvements plans shall be prepared by a registered civil engineer 
and shall be submitted to the City Engineer for review and approval. The 
improvements shall be designed and placed to the City of Atwater standards and 
specifications. 
 

2. If property is located within a FEMA flood zone. Prior to approval of a grading 
plan, the developer shall apply to FEMA and receive a Letter of Map Amendment 
(LOMA) issued from FEMA. The developers engineer shall provide the required 
supporting data to justify the application. 
 

3. All plan submittals and calculations and all other required documentation shall be 
submitted to the Building Division. Documents will be routed to proper 
departments for review and sent out to third party plan checking services.  
 

4. Apply for a permit application in person or online. 
 

5. Plan Check fee payment (based on valuation of the project) contact Building 
Division. 
 

6. Five (5) sets of plans including three (3) wet stamped by a registered California 
Design . 
 

7. Professional, unless noted accordingly per the “Professional Engineers Act” of 
2001. 
 

8. Three (3) sets of Energy, Structural,  Soils Report, California Green Code 
Documents, Special Inspection form (filled out by designer), and any other 
applicable calculations/specifications or documents.  
 

9. Building plans shall reflect the most recent California Building Codes (Title 24) 
which consist of the Building Code volume 1 & 2, Wind Speed: Risk Category I: 
100, Category II: Vult 110, Vasd 85, Category III Vult 115, Vasd 85 

 
a. Wind Exposure: B Urban and Suburban, C in any quadrant for a distance 

of more than 600 feet 
b. Seismic Design Category: DO 
c. Weathering: Negligible, Winter design temp. 25 degrees F 
d. Air Freezing Index: 1500, mean annual temp 60 degrees F 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 3 
 

10. Green Code, Electrical Code, Mechanical Code, Plumbing Code, Fire Code 
including Appendix C, Appendix D, Appendix I, Appendix J, California Energy 
Commission requirements, State and Federal Accessibility requirements, Atwater 
Municipal Codes (AMC), requirements from Atwater Fire Department, 
Engineering, Planning and Public Works Departments respectively. 
 

11. Once plans are approved by the City of Atwater the Building Division will contact 
the applicant with fee totals and approximate time when plans will be ready for 
pick up. 
 

12. Building Permits cards and city approved plans and calculations shall be on site 
at all times when an inspection is called in.  
 

13. The construction site shall have an address posted that will be easy for 
inspectors, and emergency services to see.  
 

14. All conditions of approval (including conditions from Caltrans) for this project shall 
be written by the Developer on all building permit plan check sets, including 
tenant improvements, submitted for review and approval. These conditions of 
approval shall be on, at all times, all construction plans kept on the project site. It 
is the responsibility of the building Developer to ensure that the project contractor 
is aware of, and abides by, all conditions of approval. Prior approval from the City 
Planner or City Engineer, as applicable, must be received before any changes 
are constituted in site design, grading, building design, building colors or 
material, etc. 

 
CALTRANS 
 

15. All off-premise commercial advertising displays visible from the National Highway 
System are subject to the provisions of the California Outdoor Advertising Act 
(Bus. & Prof. Code Section 5200 et. seq.) and must obtain an ODA Permit from 
the Office of Encroachment and Outdoor Advertising Permits (OEOAP) prior to 
placement.  

 
ENGINEERING 
 

16. The developer shall pay all applicable processing fees, permit fees, City 
development fees, fire fees, school fees, drainage fees and other public entity 
fees in effect at the time of the issuance of the applicable permit. 

 
17. The Developer shall submit a building permit application package which shall 

include grading plans, a permit application, and plan check and inspection fees 
and deposits to the Community Development Department. Grading plans shall 
be approved prior to or concurrently with the approval of the Improvement 
Plans. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 4 
 

18. All improvements, public and private, shall be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the most recent edition of the City of Atwater Improvement 
Standards and Specifications and the most recent edition of the Caltrans 
Standard Plans and Specifications, all applicable federal, state, and local 
ordinances, standards, and requirements. Should a conflict arise, the governing 
specification shall be determined by the City Engineer. 
 

19. The applicant shall secure and comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
licenses, permits, authorizations, conditions, agreements, and orders prior to or 
during construction and operation, as appropriate. 

 
20. An encroachment permit shall be required for any construction to be done in the 

public right of way or in easements. Please note for any public improvement 
required sufficient warranty may be required by the city. The encroachment 
permit shall be obtained prior to the start of said work. The permit fees shall be 
determined per the current adopted Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 
 

21. Where the finished grade of the property is in excess of twelve inches (12") 
higher or lower than the abutting property or adjacent lots, a retaining wall or 
other suitable solution acceptable to the City Engineer shall be required, and any 
fence or wall shall be measured from the top of grade on the lower side of the 
retaining wall or slope. Retaining walls shall be shown on grading plans, shall be 
structurally engineered if over four (4) feet in height (from base of foundation to 
top of wall), including surcharge, and will require a separate building permit. 
 

22. The developer shall coordinate all grading and improvements with adjacent 
property owners to the satisfaction of the City if required due to an 
encroachment. Any grading or drainage onto adjacent properties shall require 
written approval of those property owners affected, with said approval provided to 
the City Engineer. 
 

23. All broken, cracked or otherwise damaged public improvements, such as curb, 
gutter, and sidewalk, shall be saw cut, removed and replaced in accordance with 
applicable city standards to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 
24. For the proposed on-site improvements and off-site improvements, the developer 

shall cause Improvement Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be prepared by a 
Licensed Civil Engineer or under his/her direction. The plans shall be prepared 
on 24" X 36" plan sheets and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall be in a 
format to be approved by the City Engineer and shall show all of the proposed 
grading and on-site and off-site improvements for the proposed development. 
The title of the plan shall be shown at the top of Sheet No. 1. Sheets shall be 
numbered in consecutive order. An index showing the sheets contained within 
and as a part of the Site Improvement Plan shall be shown on Sheet 1. Separate 
On-Site and Off-site Improvement plan sets shall be submitted for City review.  
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 5 
 

25. Prior to occupancy, the developer shall supply the City with both hardcopy and 
electronic (Adobe PDF and AutoCAD file formats) showing plans that reflect the 
project as it was built (As-Builts or Record Drawings) to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer. Off-Site Improvement Plans hardcopy shall be on 4-mil minimum 
thickness translucent mylar film. 
 

26. All utility trenches or excavations shall be excavated, backfilled, and compacted 
in accordance with applicable City Standards and with any conditions for paving 
structural sections included within this resolution. 

 
27. Applicant shall abandon and remove from the site any existing irrigation lines and 

other structures found. Lines shall be plugged at the property line with concrete. 
 

28. Developer shall provide for a drainage system capable of handling and 
disposing of all surface water originating within the Development and all surface 
water that may flow onto the Development from adjacent lands. Said drainage 
system shall include any easements and structures required by the City 
Engineer to properly handle the drainage, and shall be designed so as to 
prevent ponding of surface water that would create a public health hazard or 
nuisance, developer shall comply with Chapter 13.22 of the Atwater Municipal 
Code "Storm Water Management and Discharge Control" and with the City of 
Atwater Post Construction Standards Plan. 
 

29. Developer shall process a Post-Construction Stormwater BMP Operation and 
Maintenance Plan for review and approval to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer. Applicant shall comply with the provisions of the City of Atwater Post-
Construction Standards Plan. 
 

30. Owner shall execute any agreements identified in the Post-Construction 
Standards Plan that pertain to the transfer of ownership and/or long-term 
maintenance of stormwater treatment or hydrograph modification BMPs to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of the Community Development 
Department. 
 

31. Developer shall properly abandon or relocate all utilities as necessary or 
required. 
 

32. Developer shall comply with the requirements of all public utility companies. 
 

33. All underground utilities shall be installed in conformance with existing City 
policy including without limitation the City of Atwater Subdivision and Zoning 
Ordinances. 
 

34. The installation (if required) of all gas, electric, sewer, and water lines and any 
other below-surface utilities is to take place before the construction of any 
concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and the surfacing of streets. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 6 
 

 
35. Applicant shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air 

Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD). 
 

36. The project shall be in compliance with the most recent Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) regulations. 

 
37. Sight distance requirements at all street intersections shall conform to City 

Standards. 
 

38. The applicant shall submit a geotechnical report together with improvement 
plans to the City Engineer for review and approval. The report shall include the 
information and be in the form as required by the City Engineer and all applicable 
codes. 
 

39. Developer shall submit three (3) sets of landscaping and irrigation plans to be 
reviewed and approved by the City of Atwater Public Works Division. Said plans 
shall be prepared by a landscape architect licensed in the State of California. All 
landscaped areas shall be equipped with seven-day automatic irrigation systems 
with battery back-up. All landscaping shall always be maintained and said 
maintenance shall be the responsibility of the developer. Specific landscaping for 
screening shall have an appearance of mature growth subject to a field check 
and approval by the Community Development Director prior to Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

 
40. All planting shall be maintained in good growing condition. Such maintenance 

shall include, where appropriate, pruning, mowing, weeding, cleaning of debris 
and trash, fertilizing and regular watering. Whenever necessary, planting shall be 
replaced with other plant materials to ensure continued compliance with 
applicable landscaping requirements. Required irrigation systems shall be fully 
maintained in sound operating condition with heads periodically cleaned and 
replaced when missing to ensure continued regular watering of landscape areas, 
and health and vitality of landscape materials. 

 
41. All Conditions of Approval for this project shall be written by the project 

developer on all building permit plan check sets submitted for review and 
approval. These Conditions of Approval shall be on, at all times, all grading and 
construction plans kept on the project site. It is the responsibility of the project 
developer to ensure that the project contractor is aware of, and abides by, all 
Conditions of Approval. Prior approval from the Community Development 
Director must be received before any changes are constituted in site design, 
grading, building design, building colors or materials, etc. 

 
FIRE 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 7 
 

42. All plans, calculations and supporting documentation are routed through the 
Building Division.  

 
43. Plans, calculations and supporting documentation shall reflect the latest 

California Building Codes (Title 24) Focusing on the Fire Code, CCR Title 24, 
NFPA, ASTM, California Fire Marshal requirements, and the Atwater Municipal 
Code (AMC).  

 
PLANNING 
 

44. All signs shall be erected in compliance with adopted City codes and standards. 
 

45. All signs shall be properly maintained. 
 

46. All signs shall remain out of the City's recognized clear zones, as defined 
in section 17.12.120 and public rights-of-way, and in no way shall any sign 
constitute a vehicular traffic hazard by distracting or confusing a motorist. 

 
47. No sign shall be attached to any City Street tree, utility pole, street signal, street 

light, street name sign, traffic warning sign, bus shelter, or similar device or 
facility. 

48. Outdoor advertising signs may be permitted in the M-1 and M-2 zones provided 
the signs are located within 300 feet of the Freeway 99 right-of-way. 
 

49. Maximum sign area is 600 square feet and 50 feet in height measured from the 
finished grade to the top of the sign. 

50. The duration of a message shall be displayed for a period no less than 20 
seconds.  

 
51. The transition from one message to another shall be instantaneous as 

perceived from the human eye and each electronic message board message 
shall be complete in itself and shall not continue by fading, scrolling, or other 
manner to a subsequent message. 
 

52. No electronic message board shall display animated messages, including 
flashing, blinking, fading, rolling, dissolving, or any other effect that gives the 
appearance of movement. 
 

53. No electronic message board shall include or emit an audio message. 
 

54. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-03-0100 

55. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 

https://library.municode.com/ca/atwater/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=TIT17ZO_CH17.12ADGECO_17.12.120VICLCOLO


Planning Commission Resolution No. 0243-24 Page 8 
 

Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

56. Applicant must provide a Commercial Conditional Use Permit General Plan 
Update Fee in accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 

  
57. Applicant must provide an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in 

accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  

58. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 
hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any 
and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, 
officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the 
City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 
harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application. 

 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 20th day of March, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:     
       APPROVED: 
 
       _____________________________                                                               
       DON BORGWARDT,  
       CHAIRPERSON  
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
INTERIM CITY MANAGER 































 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  

 
MEETING DATE: March 20, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:  Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager / Community Development 

Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to make a finding that the proposed exterior 

paint scheme for Fire Station 41, located at 699 Broadway, 
Atwater, CA (APN: 003-075-001), conforms with the City’s 
policies, codes, and guidelines for government buildings 
pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code 17.12.060. 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and take any testimony from the public;  

 
2. Close the public hearing; 

 
3. Make a finding that proposed exterior paint scheme is consistent with the City’s 

policies, codes, and guidelines for government buildings pursuant to the Atwater 
Municipal Code 17.12.060 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 699 Broadway Avenue (APN: 003-075-001) on the 
North side of Broadway Avenue, approximately seventy-five feet from its intersection with 
High Street (refer to Figure 1). The parcel is approximately .83 acres and currently has  
City Fire Station No. 41 located on it and with approximately twenty-one parking spaces, 
as well as six bay doors. The existing Fire Station is approximately a 12,600 sq-ft facility.  

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 

Donald Borgwardt Jagandeep Mokha 
Harold Kadach          Ileisha Sanders 

Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 



Agenda Report – Planning No. 24-07-0100  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 1: Site Location 
 
 ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant requests approval to change the exterior paint color scheme at 699 
Broadway Avenue (APN: 003-075-001) in the Downtown Business District. Per the 
Atwater Municipal Code Section 17.12.060, no public or government structure can be 
altered without the approval from the Planning Commission. Altering the exterior paint 
scheme will conform with the City of Atwater’s Policies, Codes, and Guidelines. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning No. 24-07-0100  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Land Use Designation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Residential Transition (RT) 
 
 
 
Land Use Designation: 
 
The project site has a land use designation of Residential Transition (RT); this designation 
is intended to provide a transition between commercial development and adjacent 
residential neighborhoods. The project intends to change the exterior paint scheme of 
Fire Station 41 which is consistent with the designated use of the Atwater General Plan 
land use designation. 

 
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning No. 24-07-0100  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Zoning 

 
Downtown Business District (D-BD) 

 
Surrounding Uses: 
 
The properties immediately to the north, south, east, and west also have a land use 
designation of Downtown Business District. 
 
Zoning Consistency: 
The Downtown Business District zone is intended to provide a mixture of public and 
private uses designated to create a downtown shopping experience and pedestrian 
friendly environment. Emphasis on a mix of small-scale commercial and retail businesses 
and locally oriented professional and personal services are encouraged. Other supported 
businesses are to include mixed or multiple us developments, higher density loft type 
housing units, and civic and governmental offices. High quality design and signage 
requirements are key features to this district. Fire Station 41 is consistent with the current 
zoning designation. 
 

 



Agenda Report – Planning No. 24-07-0100  Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

II. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 

No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item has 
been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
III. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney’s office. 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
Per the Atwater Municipal Code Section 17.12.060 No public and/or governmental 
building, fountain, monument, wall, arch, or other structure shall be erected, placed on 
or upon, removed from, relocated or materially altered on or upon any public land or 
allowed to extend over or upon any street, avenue, square, park, recreation ground, or 
other public property unless plans for the same and the location thereof have first 
been submitted to the Planning Commission to ensure consistency with the City of 
Atwater's Policies, Codes, and guidelines. 
 
V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
N/A 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Public Resources Code PRC § 21065 this is not considered a 
project.   
 
VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  
 
Following the approval of Planning No. 24-07-0100, the Recording Secretary will forward 
the signed Minutes to the applicant. 
 
Prepared by: Kayla Rashad, Administrative Assistant 
 
Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager / Community Development 
Director  
 
 

 


	PC Agenda 03.20.24.pdf
	PC Agenda Packet 03.20.24
	PC Minutes 2.21.24.pdf
	ACTION MINUTES

	RSO 231-23 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	Staff PC 0231-23.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO PC 0231-23.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	Attachement 2 - Operational Statement
	Attachment 3 - Land Use Designation
	Attachment 4 - Zoning
	Attachment 5 - Tentative Parcel Map

	RSO 243-24 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	RSO PC 0243-24 Staff Report.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO PC 0243-24 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	RSO 243-24 Signed Application
	RSO 243-24 Operational Statement
	RSO 243-24 6 Site Plan 12324 UPDATED 6 ACRE Digital Billboard DESIGN.pdf
	S.1
	S.2
	S.3


	Staff Report.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners



